

Campus Free Expression: A New Roadmap

ACADEMIC LEADERS TASK FORCE ON CAMPUS FREE EXPRESSION

November 2021

ACADEMIC LEADERS TASK FORCE ON CAMPUS FREE EXPRESSION

Jim Douglas (Co-Chair)

Executive in Residence, Middlebury College Former Governor of Vermont

Chris Gregoire (Co-Chair)

CEO, Challenge Seattle Former Governor of Washington

Ronald A. Crutcher

President Emeritus, University of Richmond

Daniel Cullen

Professor of Philosophy, Rhodes College

Ross Irwin

COO, BridgeUSA William A. Keyes, IV

President, Institute for Responsible Citizenship

Walter M. Kimbrough President, Dillard University

Linda A. Livingstone President, Baylor University

Wallace Loh Immediate Past President, University of Maryland

John A. Nunes President, Concordia College-New York

Carol A. Sumner Chief Diversity Officer and Vice President of Diversity, Equity & Inclusion, Texas Tech University

Lori S. White President, DePauw University

STAFF

Steven F. Hayward Lecturer, UC Berkeley School of Law BPC Consultant

G. William Hoagland Senior Vice President Jacqueline Pfeffer Merrill Director, Campus Free Expression Project Marley Whittle Project Assistant

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Bipartisan Policy Center thanks the Sarah Scaife Foundation for its generous support of the Campus Free Expression Project. It also thanks the University of Maryland and the University of Richmond for permission to include institutional statements. Several academic leaders and experts offered insightful comments on drafts of the report, for which we are grateful. BPC staff member Blake Johnson provided support during drafting and editing of the report. Intern Henry Kokkeler provided assistance to the task force staff. Former staff member Nick Gonnerman provided support to the task force and its staff.

DISCLAIMER

This report is the product of BPC's Academic Leaders Task Force on Campus Free Expression. The findings and recommendations expressed herein are those solely of the task force, though no member may be satisfied with every individual recommendation in the report. The contents of this report do not necessarily represent the views or opinions of the Bipartisan Policy Center's founders or its board of directors, nor the views or opinions of any organization associated with individual members of the task force.

Table of Contents

04	LETTER FROM THE CO-CHAIRS
06	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
09	FREE EXPRESSION: A CHANGING LANDSCAPE
13	FREE EXPRESSION: THE ROADMAP
14	THE PRESIDENTIAL LEADERSHIP TEAM
21	TRUSTEES
22	FACULTY
27	ATHLETIC DIRECTORS AND COACHES
28	STUDENT AFFAIRS
31	CONCLUSION
32	APPENDIX I: STATEMENTS ON CAMPUS FREE EXPRESSION
38	APPENDIX II: TABLETOP EXERCISES
44	ENDNOTES

Letter From the Co-Chairs

America is suffering a crisis of confidence in many of its leading institutions. Among the important institutions whose trust among the public has sharply fallen in recent years is higher education. How did this happen to one of our previously most esteemed institutions?

We believe a major cause is the erosion of a campus culture of free expression and open inquiry.

Beyond the well-publicized scenes of speakers "shouted down" and a few instances of serious violence, recent surveys have found that the overall campus climate of open exchange of ideas has eroded. Many students and even faculty self-censor, while controversies over faculty research and extramural statements have created uncertainty about the boundaries of academic freedom.

Moreover, the decline in confidence in higher education institutions has taken on a partisan edge, mirroring the wider polarization of America. We cannot afford for higher education to become another scene of deep partisan division. As a country, we must be better at robustly and respectfully debating difficult issues across the political spectrum, and college campuses have an essential role in achieving this civic goal.

That's why we asked the Bipartisan Policy Center to convene the Academic Leaders Task Force on Campus Free Expression, which we have co-chaired. Members of the task force each have distinguished records of leadership on free expression, and include civic leaders, a recent college graduate, as well as presidents and academic leaders who serve or have served at public and private colleges, land-grant universities, secular and religious colleges, Hispanic-Serving Institutions, Historically Black Colleges and Universities, research institutions, liberal arts colleges, and a faithbased liberal arts college with an emphasis on service professions.

Over the last year, the task force has discussed why attempts to foster a free expression culture have become increasingly difficult, as well as what has worked to establish a culture of open inquiry, frank discussion, and viewpoint diversity. We met virtually every few weeks to deliberate about trends on our nation's campuses; discuss articles, surveys, and reports on free expression issues; and to hear from a panel of students. We have outlined the most difficult challenges and laid out specific recommendations for college presidents and senior leadership teams, trustees, faculty, athletic directors and coaches, and student affairs staff. We believe that these recommendations, especially when pursued as a campuswide strategy, can do much to strengthen free expression and open inquiry, bolster confidence in our nation's colleges and universities, and prepare Generation Z as citizens and civic leaders.

Jim Douglas Co-chair

Clina's Thegaire

Chris Gregoire Co-chair

Executive Summary

Two core principles of higher education—academic freedom and free expression—are undergoing a period of great stress. There is overwhelming survey research and other evidence that the intellectual climate on many college and university campuses is being constrained. Faculty are deterred from exploring certain subjects and expressing candid opinions even off campus; students are self-censoring; outside speakers are disinvited and events are being canceled. Social media has become a megaphone that amplifies campus controversies, increasing their intensity and visibility, compressing time frames for a leadership response, and leading to investigation and sanctioning of faculty and students. The traditional understanding of free speech as a liberalizing force is itself being called into question.

The chilling of campus speech is having effects beyond the borders of the campus. Rather than alleviating the political polarization in our nation today, the inhibition of campus speech is degrading the civic mission of higher education, which is to maintain our pluralistic democracy by preparing students for civic participation as independent thinkers who can tolerate contrary viewpoints and work constructively with those with whom they have principled disagreements.

Because the pursuit of knowledge proceeds in many modes, we refer to free expression, not free speech. Speech may be the preeminent mode of inquiry on a college campus, whether it proceeds in the language of mathematics or the language of literary analysis. However, visual art, theatrical performance, nonverbal protest, and much more are also important modes of expression. To be successful in upholding their institutional mission amid today's changing social, civic, and political landscape, college leaders need a new roadmap for campus free expression.

The Bipartisan Policy Center convened our task force to explore the factors that have made free expression so fraught and to make recommendations about how to foster a campus culture of robust intellectual exchange, open inquiry, and free expression.

As a task force, we believe each campus needs an approach that fits its unique history, mission, and community. An approach that suits a public flagship university will not

fit a small, denominational campus. Even as principles of academic freedom and free expression apply across campuses, in this period of stress on these principles, each college must examine and affirm these principles through its own processes. That is why, as a task force, we do not endorse specific statements, policies, curricula, or programming, although we are providing a resource guide of programs and approaches, including those used with success by task force members and other campuses. Our common recommendations are for elements of a free expression strategy, as well as processes for developing and implementing a strategy, in the context of shared governance.

We believe that college leaders must take on four challenges directly:

- First, colleges and universities must address the perceived tension that pits academic freedom and freedom of expression against diversity, equity, and inclusion in creating a respectful learning environment for all. While not ignoring that there may be expression that is hurtful, we believe profoundly that free expression is an essential means to an inclusive campus in addition to being essential to higher education's academic and civic missions.
- Second, colleges and universities should take steps to encourage more viewpoint diversity on campus. Exposing students to a wide range of perspectives and methods of confronting issues is essential for both a well-rounded education and as preparation for the rigors of citizenship in a diverse society.
- Third, colleges and universities should adopt strong policies for the protection of free expression for students and faculty, to forestall hasty or ad hoc responses to controversial expression, and to defend the expression of unorthodox and controversial views.
- Fourth, colleges and universities should elevate the skills and dispositions necessary to academic and civic discourse as a deliberate aim of the collegiate experience. Formal protections for free expression are necessary but insufficient to create a culture of free expression, open

We believe this moment in the history of American higher education resembles previous moments when social and political flux presented new challenges to upholding a free expression culture. In the early 20th century, the role of the faculty changed as academic fields grew more professionalized. While these developments were positive, the rapid transformation left faculty exposed to threat of dismissal or other sanctions for their research and public statements. In response, the American Association of University Professors was founded and published its 1915 Declaration of Principles on Academic Freedom and Academic Tenure (revisited in the 1940 Statement of Principles on Academic Freedom and Tenure, following another period of tremendous stress for the country and for higher education). The tumultuous Civil Rights and Vietnam War era prompted reconsideration of the rights of student protestors, the role of the university, and academic freedom; results of this reconsideration include the 1967 University of Chicago Report on the University's Role in Social and Political Action, the 1970 Interpretive Comments on the 1940 Statement of Principles on Academic Freedom and Tenure, and the 1974 Report of the Committee on Freedom of Expression at Yale. Ours is a similarly powerful moment of political and social change and of new trends in higher education. Looking back on the successes of these previous efforts to find new ways to uphold free expression values, we are confident that colleges can renew their approach to fostering free expression and open inquiry.¹

inquiry, and respectful, productive debate on campus and in our country. We have a national civic skills deficit, which colleges and universities have an essential role in remedying. Matriculating students typically need coaching and instruction in these skills and habits of mind, and our aim should be to graduate students who raise the bar for national discourse.

In the next pages, we highlight some of the changes in our social, civic, and political landscape and on campus that prompted the need for a renewed approach to upholding academic freedom, free expression, and open inquiry. We then present our roadmap for engaging all members of the campus community, with recommendations for college presidents and senior leadership teams, trustees, faculty, athletic directors and coaches, and student affairs staff to rejuvenate a culture of free expression.

Free Expression: A Changing Landscape

As a task force, we wrestled with the question of why free expression has become so fraught in recent years. The task force focused on several changes in the social, civic, and political landscape and on campus that led to the need for a new roadmap on campus free expression.

We noted three trends that colleges and universities cannot directly affect but that have impact on the culture for free expression and open inquiry:

Changing patterns of adolescent experience.

At a time when campuses are more diverse than ever, many Generation Z students are less prepared for conversation across differences than students of earlier generations. Today's adolescents are growing up in increasingly homogeneous neighborhoods, where they may know few whose viewpoints, news sources, socioeconomic status, and race differ from their own.² At the same time, parents of Generation Z students have actively curated their children's social, academic, and extracurricular experiences, willing to intervene when their children's interactions become contentious or challenging.³

Social media.

Social media has an enormous impact on today's climate for open exchange. As one task force member observed, today's students inhabit a physical campus and a virtual campus—and campus leaders must be attuned to both. Social media silos people into think-alike bubbles, rewards hyperbole and outrage, and does not support nuanced academic reasoning.

For Generation Z, social media is where ideas get discussed, even on residential campuses: 58% of undergraduates report that social and political ideas are mostly discussed through social media, rather than face-to-face.⁵ Social media undermines the integrity of classroom experiences, as students wonder whether their classroom comments may be shared on social media.⁶ Comparing the experiences of college-bound Generation Z students with those of their Generation X parents, Generation Z spent an hour less per day on face-to-face socializing in high school, meaning that

"We were in an era when rational dialogue and debate had been abandoned for the high of in-your-face confrontation, with social media as an accelerant."⁴

-Walter Kimbrough

they are much less practiced in conversation and social interactions—even friendly social interactions—than matriculating students of a generation ago.⁷

Affective polarization.

As a country, we are riven by affective polarization and divisive stereotypes about our political opposites.⁸ Too often, today's conservatives and liberals think that those with different political viewpoints are bad people with the wrong values. This polarization is one of our most urgent national problems, and the polarization off campus makes its way onto campus. A survey of undergraduates at a flagship university found, as is likely true on campuses nationwide, that conservative and liberal students hold divisive stereotypes about each other.⁹ And—in a finding that worried the task force—a recent survey suggested that higher education may worsen polarization by increasing the so-called "perception gap," the tendency to overestimate how many of one's political opposites hold extreme views.¹⁰

As a result of these trends, matriculating students are insufficiently equipped to navigate the give-and-take in conversation and disagreement that ultimately sustains dialogue and connection. This portends a breakdown in our community.

While colleges and universities cannot directly affect the above three trends, there are other campus trends that may be addressed more directly:

Doubts that free expression and diversity, equity, and inclusion are compatible commitments.

Within a university community, respectful disagreement is not a rupture in the community, but a sign that the community is carrying out its core purposes. Universities are where criticisms of and challenges to our most fundamental social, civic, and political institutions and norms should be proposed and debated. Universities must welcomeindeed, encourage-dissent rather than conformity. The conversations and disputes we encounter in a university should unsettle our most basic presuppositions.

Free expression has become more controversial in recent years. Its central importance to a free society is no longer taken as self-evident. Some observers worry that robust protections for free expression are incompatible with our collective commitments to diversity, equity, and inclusion. Some argue that free expression is a tool of oppression, or that it may inflict psychological and physiological harm.¹¹ Faced with a perceived trade-off between free expression and inclusion, many assign a higher value to inclusion than free expression.

The doubts that commitments to diversity and inclusion are compatible with free expression are common on campus: 49% of undergraduates say free speech rights conflict with diversity and inclusion occasionally, and 27% say they do so frequently.¹² There are reasons to credit this view: Members of historically underrepresented groups often report that they do not feel fully accepted or included in the campus community, and that they feel an additional burden of having to raise or respond to issues or campus incidents that make them feel marginalized. Scholarly and classroom discussion of the issues of race, sex, gender, class, poverty, and immigration policy, even if they are conducted with decorum and held to high academic standards, can raise ideas that will be uncomfortable and challenging to the inclusive character of the campus community.

As a task force, we believe that free expression is an essential means to an inclusive campus. It is through discourse that we are able to examine, discuss, and ultimately understand others' experiences, viewpoints, and opinions. While profound disagreements and differences may remain, through respectful, serious conversations the campus can become an inclusive community of learners and knowledge-seekers.¹³ There are no simple answers or strategies addressing the perceived tension that pits academic freedom and freedom of expression against diversity, equity, and inclusion. Campuses will need to take some risks, to learn from trial and error, and engage the community actively. In our roadmap, we offer some strategies that we believe will be effective.

"A commitment to free expression must be built on a foundation of inclusion and equity. Diversity is a necessary condition for the coexistence of different ideas and perspectives, and inclusion is a necessary condition for every member of our community to feel welcomed, affirmed, and respected. In the context of freedom of expression, equity means that we develop, sustain, and uphold a clear set of community values, standards, and expectations, such that a commitment to freedom of expression, and to diversity, equity and inclusion, extends to and is lived by, all members of the communitystudents, faculty, staff, and board members. In a community marked by true inclusion and equity, even fierce debates about a range of differences of opinions and perspectives are not experienced as personal attacks on one's very humanity and sense of well-being and belonging."14

-Lori S. White

Decreasing campus viewpoint diversity.

While campuses have become more diverse in many ways, they have become increasingly ideologically conformist. Universities have always been left-leaning; as forums for critique of our most fundamental social, civic, and political institutions and norms, it would be surprising if universities had a predominately conservative ethos.¹⁵ However, a climate of conformity compromises the civic mission of higher education.

To prepare students for civic life in our pluralistic democracy among conservatives, liberals, and moderates—each of whom represent at least a quarter of the American populace¹⁶—campuses should create opportunities for students to learn about and converse with those from across the political spectrum.

A censorious minority.

Surveys of undergraduates find that a significant minority are willing to shut down speech: In a national survey of undergraduates, 13% said that it is always or sometimes acceptable to use "violence to stop a speech, protest, or rally"; 39% said it is always or sometimes acceptable to engage in "shouting down speakers or trying to prevent them from talking."¹⁷ Surveys of faculty in fields such as philosophy and political science as well as other surveys document that a significant minority of faculty admit to a willingness to discriminate against their political opposites in hiring, symposia invitations, grant decisions, and paper reviews, and that the faculty and departmental culture may stifle open debate.¹⁸ Shout-downs of campus speakers, calls to dismiss faculty for controversial research or extramural expression, and social-media frenzies over controversial expression by students or faculty, while driven by a campus minority, curb open inquiry and academic discourse for all.

To prevent a vocal and censorious minority from disrupting everyone else's opportunity to benefit fully from their collegiate experience—and for the country to benefit from robust institutions of higher education that advance the frontiers of knowledge and prepare the next generation for citizenship—it is necessary to defend academic and expressive freedoms vigorously when they are threatened on campus.

Widespread self-censorship.

One national survey found 63% of students agreed that "the climate on my campus prevents some people from saying things they believe because others might find them offensive," noting that the percentage of students with that perception has risen in recent years.¹⁹ The survey at a flagship university mentioned above also found students across the political spectrum self-censor, and a substantial percentage report doing so on multiple occasions in a single course.²⁰ Faculty also self-censor in the classroom, in their choice of research topics, and around their faculty colleagues.²¹

To address self-censorship and the stifling of classroom and quad debate, colleges must deliberately assist students in developing skills for spirited, productive academic discourse in an atmosphere of humility, grace, patience, and mutual respect.

* * *

These are the background factors in the social, civic, and political landscape and on campus that make a new free expression roadmap necessary. While the core principles of academic freedom and free expression are unchanged, these factors require campus leaders to find new pathways to uphold these principles today. We now turn to our roadmap, including a leadership strategy for a deliberate, iterative approach to free expression that engages all members of the campus community, from students to faculty, student affairs staff, athletic directors and coaches, trustees, and the presidential leadership team.

Free Expression: The Roadmap

A robust campus free expression culture begins with the active and high-profile involvement of the president, as well as top administrators and trustees. When the president and senior administration speak about free expression and model respectful engagement with a wide range of viewpoints, it empowers others in the community to do the same.

Leadership on academic freedom and free expression is not confined to presidents and other top university leaders, but depends on creating an institutional environment where the virtues of intellectual clarity and rigor, empathy, respect, and humility are continually fostered in the activities and life of the university.²² Trust among the community is essential; within any university community, controversial expression will provoke strong and divergent responses among stakeholders, testing the community but also creating new opportunities to affirm its commitment to free expression and open inquiry.

A successful roadmap on free expression honors the campus' norms of shared governance. Each element of the campus community has an essential role in fostering a free expression culture, including the president and administrative leadership team, trustees, faculty, staff, students, alumni, and donors. Since 2015, many campuses have adopted a free expression statement. On our task force, some thought that these statements were valuable for signaling the centrality of free expression to the collegiate mission and creating a philosophic or campus culture framework for the development of campus strategies, policies, programs, and curricula; others thought that having free expression strategies, policies, programs, and curricula were sufficient. Our task force often came back to "disagree with the argument, not the person" as a principle that could serve as a summary statement of our deliberations about what was essential to a free expression culture. Two task force members, Wallace Loh and Ronald Crutcher, had roles in statements written to suit their campus' community: The University of Maryland took the approach of adopting a Statement on University Values along with a Statement of Free Speech Values; the University of Richmond adopted a Statement on Free Expression that includes an explicit statement of its right to express an opinion about ideas and beliefs expressed on campus. These statements were adopted after multistage processes that included forums and meetings, so that students, faculty, staff, and administrators could have input on the statements. This had the benefit of creating a sense that these statements belong to the campus community rather than being adopted from an external or generic model. These statements are included in Appendix I.

The Presidential Leadership Team

The objective of the leadership team should be to build confidence in a fair, consistent, and principled approach to free expression. The work of the leadership team cannot be passive, or rest exclusively upon policy statements, resolutions, or guidelines. The effort should begin with the team articulating an explicit and campus-specific strategy on free expression that addresses the perceived tension between diversity, equity, inclusion, and free expression.

Leaders must make a case that it is possible to achieve a campus culture in which free expression *helps* the cause of diversity, equity, and inclusion by building student resiliency and understanding of the range of perspectives, opinions, and experiences of others; by creating opportunities for discussion about issues where students believe academic freedom, free expression, diversity, equity, and inclusion are in tension; and by fostering a sense of inclusion in an academic community of learning and inquiry.

Addressing the perceived tension between diversity, equity, inclusion, and free expression is an essential rhetorical and strategic task for campus leaders.

Make use of case studies and tabletop exercises.

A successful free expression strategy includes the articulation of principles; envisions what a robust culture of open inquiry and free expression would be like in a particular campus community; and identifies priority areas for strengthening or clarifying policies, programs, and curricula. One way of developing a strategy is through discussion of case studies of free expression controversies on other campuses and hypothetical scenarios in the form of tabletop exercises. In Appendix II of this report, we have included a sample of tabletop exercises.

Case studies and tabletop exercises help to identify—prior to conflict or crisis—the various reputational, fiscal, and community pressures that may be faced when controversial expression must be defended, institutional resources that are available or that must be developed, and how to assign responsibility for developing programs, policies, and curricula that foster a respectful free expression culture for all. These exercises can help the leadership team to articulate the campus' commitment to free expression and academic freedom principles with messages that resonate with its unique community, and to develop a decision-making process that will be seen as fair even by those who dissent from its outcome. Task force members said that speaking about how their college or university had demonstrated its commitment to free expression in the Civil Rights era or had hosted controversial speakers in decades past helped create a sense of an enduring institutional tradition.

Tabletop exercises should be included as regular aspects of leadership retreats and discussions, to refresh returning members, involve those new to the leadership team, and analyze how the campus strategy has functioned in practice. A successful free expression strategy is iterative, reviewing what has worked and what policies, programs, and curricula may be improved, clarified, or added. Once a leadership team has developed its free expression strategy, it is essential to support that approach with an appropriate allocation in the budget for implementation and campus programming.

Spend leadership capital to model free expression, viewpoint diversity, and inclusion.

We believe that presidents and the leadership teams should speak about free

expression and open inquiry, not only on occasions such as the convocation address but also in their regular interactions by modeling how to engage with different viewpoints. They should not shy away from preemptively discussing topics and issues that often provoke campus controversies.

Presidents and their leadership teams should consider taking responsibility for identifying gaps in the range of viewpoints heard on campus and taking steps to fill them. This requires being willing to make a judgment about what worthwhile viewpoints are insufficiently represented on campus. Some task force members have filled viewpoint gaps through speaker series directed by the office of the president, and by participating and hosting symposia, panels, and other events that bring divergent viewpoints into conversation. Hearing from those who hold divergent viewpoints on the same stage or hearing a guest speaker whose views are academically credible but outside the mainstream of that campus presents students and the community with models of respectful disagreement too seldom seen in today's civic discourse.

The president and other senior campus leaders should convene or attend gatherings of campus groups that include Task force members have used the office of the president to host speaker series to bring diverse viewpoints to campus: Ronald Crutcher at the University of Richmond hosted the Sharp Viewpoint Series, pairing political and thought leaders with different views, as well as Spider Talks, with interviews of faculty about their research; Walter Kimbrough at Dillard University hosts Brain Food with intellectuals, activists, and artists; Linda Livingstone at Baylor University hosts the Baylor **Conversation Series with speakers** who explore timely topics within the context of a Christian community; and John Nunes at Concordia **College-New York hosts Books** & Coffee for conversations with authors. At DePauw University, the Ubben Lecture Series brings diverse leaders from around the world to deliver lectures, open to the public, on contemporary issues.²³

campus Republicans, Democrats, and other political clubs; campus religious and interfaith groups; and other clubs with divergent viewpoints. Additionally, the office of the president and the administration may budget to support campus institutes, schools, departments, and faculty to convene events that address contemporary social and political issues and bring representatives of important viewpoints to campus.

One important component of addressing self-censorship and bolstering success in the university's civic mission is increasing diversity among its faculty and scholars, including viewpoint diversity and diversity of groups historically underrepresented on the faculty. Faculty are hired for their disciplinary expertise, teaching, and other potential contributions to the campus academic experience, not their political

A few words on the First Amendment. When many people think about protecting free expression, they think of the First Amendment. The First Amendment indeed protects essential freedoms of expression in our society from government interference.

However, as a task force, our focus has been on values, the collegiate mission, and campus ethos, not the law. In the public square, the First Amendment rightly protects expression that is vile, hateful, deliberately provocative, poorly argued, and even patently untrue. When we choose to join a campus community—whether by accepting an offer to matriculate as a student, or an offer to be a faculty member, staff, administrator, or trustee—we choose to join a community of teaching, learning, and scholarship. As members of campus communities, we should choose to speak and to act in ways that inform, that question, that meet disciplinary standards of evidence, that are truthful or offered in pursuit of the truth, and that affirm the opportunities of others in the community to do the same. The content of the First Amendment includes limited guidance for these value-laden choices about how to speak and act.

However, for two reasons, the First Amendment is essential to campus free expression considerations. Most obviously, the First Amendment is legally binding on public higher education institutions (and on private institutions in California). As we have seen in recent years when provocateurs have used the First Amendment to access public campuses, it can be used as a cudgel to require accommodation of expression that seeks to give the imprimatur of a campus setting to ideas that in fact undermine the campus ethos. Public institutions must be ready when the First Amendment requires them to accommodate such expression.

Additionally, the First Amendment is important because among the purposes of higher education is preparing graduates to enter a public square where it will be the operative standard. We need to cultivate the inner strength and intellectual clarity in our students to be ready to make thoughtful contributions to our civic affairs and to counter ideas with which they disagree and even which they find deeply offensive. orientation. However, on campuses where the viewpoint is predominately liberal, or on campuses where the viewpoint is predominately conservative, steps must be taken to enhance viewpoint diversity.²⁴

Be ready to act with confidence, clarity, and due speed when the inevitable campus free expression controversy occurs.

Controversy is inevitable in an intellectual community at the forefront of new scholarship and that encourages intellectually lively classrooms. On social media, controversial expression is often filtered through a narrow ideological prism and can go viral, attracting regional and even national media and compressing the time frame for deciding on a leadership response. A persistent trait of campus speech incidents that generate national headlines is that administrators and faculty are reacting to sudden controversies, often leading to hasty or ad hoc decisions; these headline-generating events have an outsized impact on shaping unfavorable public impressions of a particular campus and of higher education more generally. But while controversy is inevitable, crisis is not.

The key is preparation. The leadership team can be ready, as much as possible, with a clear, consistent, and fair response. The prior use of case studies and tabletop exercises can help avoid hasty and reactive decision-making; such exercises can help to identify what institutional response (if any) is required, which stakeholder groups should be involved, what decision points must be reached, and who should hold authority to make those decisions. Decisions at

these key moments send important messages about the university's commitments to free expression and dissent; however, reacting with unreflective appeals to free speech rights can be seen as dismissing the valid concerns of minoritized groups on campus.

If there is an institutional response, it must include a communications strategy that ensures a consistent message, acknowledges stakeholders, identifies a spokesperson, and assures that the spokesperson has the backing of the institution. In the case of controversial speech or expression by a student or faculty, it may be necessary both explicitly to affirm the university's commitment to the freedom to express even highly controversial views and to use the university's **Engage the campus community when controversy occurs.** When a private racist and sexist email message sent by a student was made public, University of Maryland President Wallace Loh took to social media to address campus community concerns. The email message was protected by the First Amendment but was deeply hurtful to many. President Loh announced and held a live Twitter chat, in which he discussed the requirement to protect expression while acknowledging and addressing the consequences of hateful speech.²⁵ own free expression rights to affirm its commitment to values, procedures, or community members, if those have been impugned.

There should also be clear guidelines about what kinds of circumstances would be sufficient to trigger a formal investigation of expression by a member of the campus community, and policies for such investigations, including what due process rights students and faculty are entitled to receive, a standard timeline for review and decision, and the potential outcomes of investigations. This timeline for review and decision should be short, barring extraordinary circumstances. Protracted and murky investigations can seem like punishments in themselves.

Allowing a controversial event or speech does not imply that the institution endorses the speaker's

views. When the University of **Richmond Law School's Federalist** Society invited transgender movement critic Ryan T. Anderson to speak on campus, there were complaints from some students and faculty and calls to disinvite the speaker. The law school dean issued a statement that the university upholds principles of robust discussion and that it does not require student groups to vet speakers with the administration, and President Ronald Crutcher insisted that the school would not cancel the event, although he found the speaker's views offensive. Anderson's speech was met with protesters; during the event, a faculty member offered a rebuttal to Anderson's remarks.²⁸

Guest speakers have been at the center of several free expression controversies. Task force members distinguished between controversial speakers, whose views had been sanctioned by peer review, service in public office, or are otherwise of academic merit, and extremist speakers, who deny the fundamental equality of all. In general, guest speakers serve the campus community by bringing the opportunity to discuss and debate; controversial and academically credible speakers may serve this purpose especially well. A thorough major events policy, readily available to students, faculty, and staff, that includes accommodation for protest and counter-events can forestall the use of the heckler's veto.²⁶ On comparatively rare occasions, public colleges and universities have been obliged, in some cases after legal action or with short notice, to host extremist speakers who assert that members of some groups are inherently inferior to others; these are cases of being forced to host speech that does not meet the standards of academic discourse and violates the fundamental assumption of the campus

community that there must be no arbitrary barriers, such as race, religion, or sex, to participation in the community of knowledge-seekers. In these situations, college leaders must find ways to honor their First Amendment obligations while affirming the equality of all members of the campus community.²⁷

Take a data-driven approach to campus culture.

Institutional campus climate surveys of students, staff, and faculty provide useful snapshots of the campus culture on a wide range of concerns and topics. Such surveys must have a sound methodology; focus groups to delve into preliminary survey findings are important. It is also important to roll out the survey to the campus community in ways that build trust and ultimately empower campus leadership to respond to the results in meaningful ways for the campus culture. A campus climate survey should include questions on culture for free expression and viewpoint diversity, including questions about how comfortable it is to express a view that others might find objectionable in class and in other campus settings; to what degree concerns about comments being shared by peers on social media discourage expression; and how diverse the range of viewpoints on campus is.²⁹

Consider the range of social and political issues within which to take an institutional position.

The leadership team must consider the range of issues on which the university will take an institutional position. Private universities have greater freedom than public universities to take an explicit position on social and political issues. If a policy or legislative proposal directly affects the operation of the university, in town-gown matters or at the state or federal level, it is clearly appropriate for a university to take a position. But beyond such issues, university practices vary.

Some colleges and universities uphold institutional neutrality, declining to comment on issues that do not have immediate campus impact, prioritizing the role of the university as a neutral forum for debate and the risks to chilling the fullest range of expression on those issues by faculty, students, and staff who may feel uncomfortable putting themselves at odds with their school.³⁰ Other colleges and universities hold that the school should be a neutral forum on most issues, but on select, important social and political issues, should speak with an institutional voice.³¹ Every denominational university, by definition, upholds its creedal texts, values, and commitments on which it is adamantly not neutral; yet, denominational institutions strive for ethical reflection, ongoing interpretation, and theological engagement relative to their particular confession of faith; contemporary social and political issues are occasions for such reflection.

On our task force, members hold varying opinions about the range of issues appropriate for an institutional position. While universities will reach different conclusions, we think it is important for university leaders to anticipate what would fall within the range appropriate for their school. University forums, speakers, panels, and campus events that bring multiple viewpoints on contentious issues demonstrate seriousness of purpose in the university's civic mission and alertness to contemporary social and political concerns even without the university taking an official stance.

Offer regional and national thought leadership on free expression.

We believe that it is important for presidents and their leadership teams to support each other on free expression issues. For example, college leaders might consider a statement on the threats to academic freedom and free expression from legislative or executive action on curricular matters or matters of open inquiry and scholarship. Likewise, college leaders might offer public or private support for presidents and other leaders of campuses who are confronting a controversy for defending the academic freedom of a faculty member or the expressive rights of students.

Presidents should offer leadership on free expression not only on their campuses but also regionally and nationally. Controversies over free expression have contributed to an erosion in public trust in colleges and universities.³² While this erosion of trust may be based on a distorted picture of what actually happens on campuses, it undermines willingness to support higher education institutions and reduces confidence in academic expertise. As a task force, we believe that it is vitally important for colleges and universities not only to do more, but to be seen doing so by the citizenry, elected officials, donors, parents, and alumni. Leaders should seek opportunities to speak about the importance of free expression for their academic mission and our civic health. They should talk specifically about their strategies to support free expression and open exchange.

Task force members also spoke to the value of their firsthand experiences working with local school systems to strengthen the skills of respectful conversation and open inquiry among primary and secondary students, and with regional business leaders who seek to create respectful workplaces, and who increasingly see the ability to work with a diversity of colleagues and clients as an essential workplace-readiness skill.

Trustees

While trustees often regard their role primarily in fiduciary and organizational terms, with considerable variation between public and private colleges, they can also play an important role in securing the collegiate values of free expression, academic freedom, and a respectful campus culture for students, faculty, and staff. Trustees should consider issuing their own public resolutions affirming the college's free expression policies. When controversies occur, trustees can play an essential role in supporting the leadership team as they defend the freedom of a community member to engage in unorthodox and controversial expression. Trustees may also consider it part of their oversight role to pay attention to campus climate. One way to do so may be through supporting well-designed campus climate surveys, including the climate for intellectual diversity and free expression. Boards should consider orientation programs for incoming trustees that include background and philosophical discussion of free expression and academic freedom and tabletop exercises.

Trustees can provide essential support for leadership teams during free expression crises. When white supremacist David Duke qualified to participate in the 2016 debate among candidates for a Louisiana U.S. Senate seat to be held on the campus of Dillard University, an HBCU, Dillard **President Walter Kimbrough was** pressured to refuse to host the debate. The school's board of trustees backed his decision to host the debate as planned. While the event was controversial, the campus leadership was united in its approach to free expression.³³

Faculty

While the president and the leadership team set the tone for the entire campus, the faculty is also intimately involved in free expression and academic freedom policy. As scholars, faculty depend on academic freedom to advance new theories and arguments. As classroom teachers, faculty serve as the most important guides and models of respectful discourse, empathy, and intellectual humility, as well as being responsible for setting curricula and learning objectives for students. As department members, faculty make hiring and promotion recommendations that cumulatively shape the ideological and demographic diversity of the faculty. The faculty are the daily face of university policy on campus.

Faculty teach skills of academic discourse so that students learn to have conversations with others whose starting premises are very different, agree on what counts as germane evidence for a claim, and respectfully hear out and find common ground with others, even if important disagreements remain. These skills of academic discourse are very closely related to the skills of civic discourse that are so important in a pluralistic liberal democracy, and it is the faculty who are most charged with preparing graduates for engaged, thoughtful citizenship as independent thinkers.

Beyond the classroom, the shared governance role of the faculty requires that they be free to speak about campus matters. Beyond the campus, faculty are equal to all other citizens, and free to engage in extramural statements and activities. At a time when many higher education institutions increasingly rely on contingent faculty, it is important for colleges and universities to respect the academic and expressive freedoms of all faculty.

There are several affirmative steps campuses can take to enhance and protect the free expression of faculty. Above all, barring clear violations of standards in the faculty handbook, faculty should be assured that they have the support of administrators and campus leadership.

Support academic freedom in the classroom.

Contrary to a common trope that faculty use the classroom to promote their own ideology, students report that their professors are "open-minded and encouraging of participation from students across the political spectrum."³⁴ However, several recent trends among students have contributed to a climate of self-censorship and chilled discourse. The task force heard that, too often, faculty—especially untenured and contingent faculty—refrained from assigning topics and texts, or raising certain ideas in class discussion, for fear of upsetting some students, even when they thought the omitted material would enrich the class. These faculty concerns are justified by increasingly frequent investigations and sanctions for classroom speech or assignments.³⁵ Of course, students should speak up in class or during faculty's office hours when they think a professor has said or done something offensive—and to speak with another college office when they feel uncomfortable speaking to the professor. However, faculty members should enjoy the support of their department chairs, deans, and senior administrators to exercise their academic freedom in managing their classes. A student concern can often be addressed fully with a substantive conversation rather than a formal complaint.

Faculty are also worried about the impact of self-censorship and social media on their classrooms. Today, most students carry a video recording device in their pocket capable of creating clips that can be used to embarrass a professor or a student.³⁶ This undermines trust and the sense that the classroom is a special, semiprivate space where—even if students or the professor discuss what they heard in class later with others—while the class is meeting, the conversation is limited to those in the room. Faculty may consider adding statements on their syllabi about the importance of respectful disagreement, giving others' views a hearing, and acceptable use of social media with regard to classroom discussions.³⁷ Faculty leading seminars and classes small enough for discussion may set aside time at the beginning of the semester to discuss and establish agreed-upon class norms.³⁸

Creating a respectful learning environment for students requires artful management of the classroom and pedagogical skills that are refined with long classroom experience. Some of these skills can be conveyed to new faculty members. Campus institutes on teaching and learning or seminars at the schoolwide or department level can support faculty in developing additional ways to teach material, develop syllabi, and structure classroom experiences that encourage all students to be confident that their questions, views, and perspectives will enjoy a fair hearing in a respectful environment.

Build free expression and viewpoint diversity into the curriculum.

Faculty set curricula and departmental learning outcomes that can help build a classroom and department culture supportive of open inquiry. Department learning outcomes, especially for first- and second-year students, should build the skills of robust academic debate and analyzing multiple perspectives.³⁹ They should include being able to outline and defend multiple viewpoints within the discipline and, especially for humanities and social science subjects, major lines of argument and critique from conservative and liberal perspectives, among others.

In addition to setting curricula and learning objectives, departments may offer team-taught courses pairing faculty of different viewpoints or "Not only are we polarized but people in the various bubbles only interact with people in those bubbles and, worse than that, they've vilified people in the other bubbles. But I see that as a tremendous opportunity for us in higher education to do what I think was one of the things we have been called on to do, and that is to educate our future citizens to be effective and engaged participants in the democratic society."41

-Ronald A. Crutcher

disciplines, who model how to debate in a civil and productive fashion.⁴⁰ In these days of tight budgets, it may be a stretch for many campuses to pay two faculty for a single course. One budgetconscious alternative is to invite faculty with different viewpoints to team-teach a few class meetings within a course.

We also noted the significant role general education plays in equipping graduates with broad knowledge to contextualize current issues and the confidence to participate as citizens in civic and policy debates. Faculty members whose university service includes reviewing or revising general education programs and requirements have an essential role in shaping the education that will prepare students to engage thoughtfully in civic affairs. With that in view, the task force was mindful of the importance of general education encompassing—as much as possible—history, fine arts, humanities, and the social sciences, as well as mathematics and physical science courses that deepen students' appreciation for the scientific method.

Teach methodology and epistemology early in departmental curricula.

The task force heard evidence that students often prioritize knowledge that comes from identity and firsthand (or "lived") experience. While these are important sources of insight, we heard that students' tendency to elevate such perspectives over knowledge developed on other bases can have a deleterious impact on classroom discourse, particularly when it comes to some of the most fraught topics of our time, such as race, class, sex, and gender—topics that are aspects of nearly every social science and humanities course.

Because of the priority placed on experience and identity, students sometimes ask student peers from historically underrepresented groups to speak as a representative of that group, as though identity should determine how someone participates and what he or she says in academic discourse. On other occasions, students may self-censor because they fear being seen as improperly speaking beyond their own experience or identity.⁴² On yet other occasions, students are called out by peers for speaking beyond their experience or identity.

Faculty cannot accomplish their classroom purposes of creating a community of equal knowledge-seekers if students do not see themselves and each other as being qualified to venture an academic opinion and to participate in every class and quad conversation. Therefore, we recommend epistemological and methodological discussions in first-year forums and that they be built into departmental learning objectives for early courses in majors to teach how to present academic opinions based on disciplinary standards of evidence, so that students are neither unfairly burdened with expectations to speak nor excluded because of their experience and identity.

Graduate faculty must prepare graduate students on issues of free expression.

While most free expression programs focus on undergraduates, it is important to pay attention to graduate students.⁴³ Graduate students are fledgling researchers and first-time teaching assistants and instructors learning how to manage classrooms, draft syllabi and class plans, and elicit student views in class; they are new to the tension of being obliged to refrain from expressing their own opinions when in front of a class as a teaching assistant while being called to make the best case for their views in their graduate seminars and research. Directors of graduate studies and graduate deans should make preparation on academic freedom and free expression an explicit component of the graduate student experience, including in seminars on professional and career development.

Support faculty-led centers and institutes.

Another successful strategy for broadening the academic offerings in ways that support an open campus culture is found in the variety of faculty-led academic centers and institutes on disciplinary subjects as well as topics including constitutionalism, leadership and statesmanship, and ethics. These centers and institutes are platforms for inviting visiting faculty and post-doctoral students to campus for periods of time, and for hosting guest speakers. Through their centers and institutes, many faculty mentor students and offer extracurricular and co-curricular opportunities to engage with academic topics as well as social and political issues. These opportunities introduce students to a yet wider range of views, and model respectful discussion of ideas and viewpoints outside the formal setting of the classroom.

Campus free expression and academic freedom policies and philosophy should be a part of new faculty orientation.

Orientation for new faculty is an opportunity to introduce new members of the faculty to the university's approach to fostering a free expression culture and to inform them about its free expression and academic freedom policies and programs. A panel of faculty who represent a range of political viewpoints can describe the campus approach and commitment to viewpoint diversity. Free expression and academic freedom policies should also be available in the faculty handbook.

Defend academic freedom in scholarship and extramural statements.

One effect of increasing ideological conformity on campus is the pressure that faculty in some disciplines face to avoid certain politically sensitive research agendas. Recent years have seen the retraction of controversial journal articles.⁴⁴ Social media has raised the profile of faculty speech while simultaneously blurring the boundaries between speech as a faculty member and extramural speech.

Faculty peers and the faculty senate can support academic freedom by having specific strategies in place to defend controversial research and statements within the bounds of academic standards and, in the case of extracurricular statements made as citizens, First Amendment freedoms.

Athletic Directors and Coaches

College athletes and coaching staff with major Division I sports programs present a unique challenge for campus free expression, and the recent U.S. Supreme Court *NCAA v. Alston* decision and potential changes to regulation of athletes' use of their name, image, and likeness are likely to spur major changes in the college sports landscape in the coming years. Because of the attention that sports teams and their top-performing student athletes can draw, individuals or teams that make statements on social or political issues can garner prominent attention, often leading to pressure from alumni, trustees, and the media. Scholarship athletes in particular are vulnerable to pressures to self-censor. College athletes should not be expected to surrender or abridge their rights of expression. We recommend that athletic directors and team coaches be brought into the process of campus leadership planning around free expression policy, and coaches should affirm the rights of the athletes under their supervision to enjoy their free expression rights in the same manner as all other students.

Student Affairs

Student affairs leaders and staff are often those to whom students turn first about free expression issues. They are well-situated to support matriculating students, many of whom are entering a much more demographically diverse community than any they have been part of—for many, the most diverse of which they will ever be part—and who are entering a community where it is possible to try out almost any idea. For students, this should be both exhilarating and exhausting. Student affairs staff can support students during the entrance to their academic community and throughout their college years by emphasizing the skills and dispositions to navigate conversations across difference and disagreement. Because of student affairs staff's role in supporting a campus free expression culture, discussion of the campus' free expression policies, programs, and curricula, along with tabletop exercises, should be part of their orientation and ongoing professional education.

Campus free expression should be a focus of first-year orientation and at subsequent touchpoints during the first year (and beyond).

First-year orientation is a not-to-be-missed opportunity to signal the importance universities place on free expression and open inquiry, and the skills and dispositions that support it. As orientation models, task force members recommend the First Amendment Watch at New York University campus speech modules and the Free Speech Project at Georgetown University orientation modules.⁴⁵

While orientation can signal the central place of free expression and open inquiry to students' academic experience, it takes extended focus throughout the first year in common reading and first-year experience programs to build skills for conversation that will be essential to students' collegiate experience and preparation for civic life.⁴⁶ Students need strategies that will serve them well when they encounter ideas that they find surprising or offensive, including simple verbal strategies such as "help me understand why you see it that way." They need to develop empathy to listen to others even when opposed to their ideas; respectfulness and commitment to disagree with others' arguments without impugning them as individuals; humility to give up a long-held position if it does not stand up to scrutiny; perseverance when it is difficult to see the next step in the argument or project; courage to make an argument when they know others will disagree; and, in practical matters, willingness to compromise and work constructively with those with whom one has principled disagreement.

Task force members recommend the OpenMind platform, the Heterodox Academy *All Minus One* booklet, and the Better Arguments Project approach to build these skills and habits of mind.⁴⁷ Since many students doubt that free expression is compatible with diversity, equity, and inclusion, first-year programming can teach about the ways in which free expression has advanced the interests of underrepresented and minoritized communities, from the Women's Suffrage and Civil Rights Movements to the #MeToo and racial justice movements of recent years.

Let students know their rights to express opinions and protest are supported and provide guidelines for that expression.

Students and other members of the campus community should be encouraged to participate in expressive activities and protest as part of their collegiate experience and as preparation for engaged citizenship in the public square. Students should be provided with detailed guidance about what expressive activities will not disrupt the educational and research activities of the campus, so student handbooks should include clear, easy-to-reference guidelines for protest and counter-protest, inviting speakers, planning events, tabling, distributing literature, chalking, and sitins (or "camping"). Guidelines should be detailed: For example, literature may be posted on certain bulletin boards and handed out but not left unattended; that amplified sound is not allowed or must not exceed a certain level; and placards may be held up during a speech if they do not exceed a specified size. There should also be guidance

Attending to student mental health supports a free expression culture.

An additional complicating factor in fostering a free expression culture is the mental health of the student body. For the nation as a whole, the spectrum of mental health issues is expanding, with better diagnostic screens and treatment options. This changing scene presents special challenges for higher education, as an increasing number of students suffer from loneliness, anxiety, depression, and other mental health stressors. For many, the isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic has aggravated their symptoms, and these effects may linger after the pandemic ends.

Mental health issues can undermine students' ability to put forward their own line of thinking confidently and to dispute ideas with which they disagree or find offensive. Students sometimes report that they feel anxious or unsafe because of expression they encounter on campus. As educators, our responsibility is not to make ideas safe for students, but to prepare students so they feel safe to confront ideas with which they disagree. It is important to address student mental health concerns and to assure students that they can develop the resiliency to confront and dispute ideas that they find wrong, or even heinous. Many colleges and universities have substantially expanded their mental health counseling resources in recent years, and there may be a need for many colleges to integrate the leadership of campus counseling services with the leadership teams overseeing free expression policy.

about respecting others' expression; for example, not using the heckler's veto or vandalizing others' literature, posters, and chalking.⁴⁸

Encourage students to exercise and respect associational and religious freedoms in clubs, student organizations, student government, and other campus groups.

Student clubs and organizations have been a source of controversy on account of exclusive qualifications that some clubs require for membership (e.g., denominational religious affiliation or sexual orientation). Disagreements about all-comers policies—whether a student group may limit its membership or leadership roles to those with certain characteristics, or exclude those with certain characteristics—have led to legal action and court cases.

Student affairs leade<u>rs have</u> a key role in fostering a free expression culture. DePauw University was notified in fall 2021 by Campus Ministry USA, a group that practices what it terms "confrontational evangelism," that a preacher from the group planned a campus visit. Visits by preachers from this group had led to disruptive confrontations in the past at DePauw and other campuses. In advance of the visit, the vice president of student affairs sent a note to students, reminding them that even uninvited speakers have a right to speak on public streets running through campus. The student government organized a protest that included T-shirts and buttons with the message "share love, not hate" and free tacos and ice cream. Student Affairs staff, the Demonstration Response Team, and other staff worked with student leaders to ensure that this was an occasion to affirm campus commitments to free expression, diversity, and inclusion.

Aside from legal restrictions such as Title IX and other civil rights laws, we believe colleges and universities should allow maximum latitude for students to enjoy the fellowship of those who share a faith, identity, or social and political ideas. When students associate with like-minded peers, they create a space that bolsters their resilience for the intellectual rough-and-tumble of the classroom and the quad, where their ideas and creeds may be questioned, and where they will study, work, and play alongside those whose experiences and identities may be very different from their own. Student affairs staff should work with student governments, which, on many campuses, have a role in conferring formal recognition and oversight of student groups, in educating student government and organization leaders about how to respect the expressive freedoms of student organizations.

Make students and student leaders partners in free expression programming.

Leaders of student organizations, such as BridgeUSA chapters, are important partners for student affairs staff in leading discussions and events for their student peers about free expression and open exchange. Students themselves must be engaged in fostering a robust free expression campus culture.

Conclusion

The emphasis on practical recommendations in this report should not lull us into underestimating the challenges of maintaining academic freedom and free expression, or what is at stake if we fail to do so. Today, academic freedom and free expression are under stress, undermining colleges' and universities' ability to fulfill their academic and civic missions, which in turn is eroding public trust in higher education institutions.

We are confident that this may be a period of renewal of academic freedom and free expression. We offer these core conclusions and recommendations:

- 1. College leaders should use leadership capital to support a culture of free expression, including by publicly affirming that disagreement and viewpoint diversity are healthy in an academic and civic community.
- 2. Every college's approach to fostering a free expression culture should be tailored to its unique history, mission, and community.
- 3. At a time when some doubt that commitments to free expression are compatible with commitments to diversity, equity, and inclusion, leaders should make the case that freedom of expression is ultimately a liberalizing and inclusive force. At the same time, university leaders must remember that students need to feel fully included in the campus community before they feel safe to confront ideas with which they disagree. A free expression culture depends on trust and a respectful learning environment for all.
- 4. Since presidents and their leadership teams, trustees, faculty, athletics leaders, staff, and students all contribute to a free expression culture, we recommend that universities develop programming for all these elements of the campus community.
- 5. Controversies about free expression are inevitable, and it is essential to be ready with a decision-making process for a clear, consistent, and fair response, and to defend expression of unorthodox and controversial views. The use of tabletop exercises can prepare college leaders, staff, and faculty for controversies.
- 6. Formal protections for controversial expression are necessary, but insufficient, for open inquiry and free expression. Robust intellectual exchange is ultimately a matter of culture, and depends on the virtues of intellectual clarity, rigor, empathy, respect, and humility, and on widespread community trust.
- 7. In addition to their academic mission, colleges and universities have a civic mission to prepare graduates to be independent thinkers, engage in respectful and productive discourse, find practical compromise with those with whom they have principled disagreements, and maintain the institutions of our pluralistic democracy.

Appendix I: Statements on Campus Free Expression

The University of Maryland and the University of Richmond in recent years adopted free expression statements. They are two of the more than 80 colleges and universities that have adopted freedom of expression statements, beginning with the University of Chicago's adoption of the Chicago Principles in 2015.⁴⁹

The University of Maryland's Statement on University Values and Statement of Free Speech Values were adopted in 2018 after approval of the university's president and the University Senate. These statements were among the recommendations of the President/Senate Inclusion and Respect Task Force, which was co-chaired by the senior associate vice president of student affairs and a dean. In the course of its work, the President/Senate Inclusion and Respect Task Force held three public forums, invited comment through an online form, and consulted with numerous campus constituencies and broadly with faculty, staff, students, and administrators.⁵⁰

The University of Richmond's Statement on Free Expression was adopted by its board of trustees in 2020.⁵¹ The president appointed a University Task Force on Free Expression, following a 2019 campus speaker series on free expression and conversation across difference. The task force drafted a statement, which was presented for comment at forums for faculty, staff, and students; comments could also be submitted through an online form. In light of those comments, the task force revised its draft. The statement was then adopted by the board of trustees.

These statements, and the task forces and deliberative processes that led to their adoption, are offered as examples for those whose campuses are considering the adoption of a free expression statement.

University of Maryland Statements on University Values and Free Speech Values

Statement on University Values

Values Statement

The University of Maryland (UMD) is a community of individuals living and working together to support and advance the educational and research mission of the institution. We aspire to become a community that is: United, Respectful, Secure and Safe, Inclusive, Accountable, and Empowered and Open to Growth.

United

We are diverse but have much in common. Members of the UMD community foster a sense of belonging based on acceptance and a unity of purpose. We strive toward overlapping goals, sharing resources, and spending some of the most significant and productive times of our lives together in a common space. To that extent we depend on one another and are our best selves when we support one another. Accordingly, our actions are guided not only by what is good for self but also by what is good for all.

Respectful

Members of the UMD community interact with others in ways that promote feelings of respect. All members of the UMD community are valued equally and deserving of respect without regard to their status, their educational attainment or their social position. We reject denigration of any member through words or actions and resist stereotyping of members that undermines personal dignity though slurs, slights, insults or other acts that disparage individuals or groups.

Secure and Safe

Members of the UMD community refrain from injustice, violence, harassment, intimidation, and aggression. We do all that is possible to protect and defend members of the UMD community from anyone who would harm them physically or psychologically. We promote individual agency and responsibility in contributing to personal safety, avoidance of harm and staving off the effects of insults, slander, intimidation, or symbolic intimation of violence.

Inclusive

The UMD community strives to achieve the highest levels of excellence in our work and our studies that accrue through inclusive practices. We recognize that as a thriving and striving community, the success of our institution and our members is dependent on how well we value, include, and engage all members. This belief must be actively and consistently embedded in every aspect and practice of the UMD community.

Accountable

All members of the UMD community are equally responsible and committed to uphold the University's values to the best of their ability, as well as hold the rest of the UMD community to those responsibilities. We must be transparent in our mistakes, and learn to reflect and continue to strive toward inclusive excellence.

Empowered and Open to Growth

Members of the UMD community embrace learning as essential for bettering ourselves as individuals and as a community. We encourage and assist one another to become our best selves.

Statement on Free Speech Values

The primary purpose of a university is to discover and disseminate knowledge through teaching, research, and service. To fulfill these functions, a free exchange of ideas is necessary not only within its walls but with the world beyond. The history of intellectual discovery and growth clearly demonstrates the need for freedom; the right to think the unthinkable, discuss the unmentionable, and challenge the unchallengeable. Whenever someone is deprived of the right to state unmentionable views, others are necessarily deprived of the right to listen to and evaluate those views. Few institutions in our society have this same central purpose. It follows that a university must protect and guarantee intellectual and academic freedom. To do so it must promote an environment in which any and all ideas are presented. Through open exchange, vigorous debate, and rational discernment, the campus community can evaluate ideas.

Every member of the campus community has an obligation to support the right of free expression at the university, and to refrain from actions that reduce intellectual discussion. No member shall prevent such expression, which is protected under the constitutions of the United States and the State of Maryland.

The University does not have a speech code. History shows that marginalized communities have successfully promoted their interests because of the right to express their views. In fact, marginalized communities have been silenced by speech codes and other regulations against "offensive" speech.

In addition to the obligation to promote and protect free expression, individuals assume further responsibilities as members of the university. The campus expects each individual community member to consider the harm that may result from the use of slurs or disparaging epithets intended to malign, for example, another's race, ethnicity, national origin, religion, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, political affiliation, or physical or mental disability. While legal protections for free expression may sometimes supersede the values of civility and mutual respect, members of the university community should weigh these values carefully in exercising their fundamental right to free expression.

The University values and embraces the ideals of freedom of inquiry, freedom of thought and freedom of expression, all of which must be sustained in a community of scholars. While these freedoms protect controversial ideas and differing views, and sometimes offensive and hurtful words and symbols, they do not protect conduct that violates criminal law or university policy.

University of Richmond Statement on Free Expression

Institutional Mission

The University of Richmond is committed to the production and dissemination of knowledge through open inquiry and "the promotion of a vibrant intellectual community that encourages thoughtful disagreement and the vigorous exchange of ideas."^a The University believes that "respectful engagement with a broad diversity of perspectives and experiences [is] essential to intellectual growth,"^b and that members of the University community can build understanding and empathy by engaging with different points of view. The University's commitment to fostering a diverse, inclusive community demands an equally strong commitment to freedom of expression. The ability to speak freely, debate vigorously, and engage deeply with differing viewpoints is essential to the University's mission of advancing knowledge and preparing students to flourish in a complex world. Freedom of expression enables the University community—students, faculty, and staff— to express their deeply held convictions, opinions, ideas, and matters of conscience and engage in vigorous debate, criticism, and counter-speech.

Rights of Free Expression

The University promotes and protects the freedom of expression for all members of its community. At the University of Richmond, speech may not be suppressed, nor speakers disinvited, simply because the ideas put forth are thought by some or even by most members of the University community to be unwelcome or deeply offensive. The University recognizes that on occasion some members of the community may strongly disagree with the speech of others, or may view the expression of certain ideas as harmful. On these occasions, it is for the members of the University community to respond by openly and vigorously contesting the ideas that they oppose, not by seeking to suppress speech. The broad protection of freedom of expression is particularly necessary for speakers and messages that challenge authority or the status quo, which frequently have been the target of censorship efforts.

a The University of Richmond's Code of Organizational Ethics and Integrity, p.2 (Values of the University; Pursuit of Knowledge).⁵²

b The University of Richmond's Code of Organizational Ethics and Integrity, p.2 (Values of the University; Inclusivity and Equity).⁵³

Limits of Free Expression

Freedom of expression at the University of Richmond is not without limits. The University may restrict expression that incites imminent lawless action, falsely defames a specific individual, or which targets a specific individual or individuals with threats or harassment. In addition, the University may reasonably regulate the time, place, and manner of expression to ensure that it does not disrupt classes, operations, or university-sponsored events. But these narrow exceptions must never be used in a manner that is inconsistent with the University's foundational commitment to a completely free and open discussion of ideas.

Rights of Non-Disruptive Protest

Freedom of expression necessarily includes the freedom to engage in nondisruptive counter-speech or protest. Members of the University community are free to contest ideas expressed on campus and to criticize speakers who have been invited to present their views. In so protesting, however, members of this community may not obstruct or otherwise interfere with the freedom of others to invite speakers or engage in their own permitted acts of expression. The University of Richmond is committed not only to promoting the lively and fearless freedom of debate and deliberation, but also to protecting that freedom when others attempt to restrict it. It is an essential part of the University's educational mission to educate members of the University community about these fundamental principles, and to foster the community's ability to engage in debate and deliberation in an effective and responsible manner.

Rights of the University

Although committed to the principles of academic freedom and freedom of expression, the University itself need not remain neutral in regard to ideas or beliefs expressed on campus. The University enjoys its own freedom to respond or communicate the institution's values and principles.

Appendix II: Tabletop Exercises

College campuses are places where the most fundamental questions are asked and the most long-standing and settled opinions may be challenged. It is inevitable and desirable that there be profound disagreement among community members. However, controversial expression can erupt into crisis, disrupting the research, teaching, and civic activities of a campus community.

Tabletop exercises—discussions of hypothetical dilemmas and controversies are invaluable opportunities for leadership teams, trustees, faculty, and staff to prepare for inevitable free expression controversies. Such exercises allow teams to anticipate issues that may present themselves, to weigh alternative responses and key decision points, to identify responsible offices and stakeholders, and to formulate messages. The use of tabletop exercises can help to create a decision-making process that, when an actual controversy arises, will be seen as fair even by those who disagree with the outcome. Tabletop exercises also allow leaders to identify pathways and programs to better prepare the campus community for controversial expression.

Tabletop exercises may be included as components of annual retreats and standing meetings; orientation programs for administrators, trustees, staff, and faculty; and meetings focused on free expression.

Below, we offer a sample of such exercises. We offer these scenarios without questions or suggested responses to leave your conversations as open-ended and wide-ranging as possible.

Student writes blog post that offends.

A sophomore, writing on her own blog unaffiliated with the university, writes, "sex and gender are biological facts, not choices; you cannot change from being a man to a woman or vice versa." Other students see the blog post and start circulating screenshots of the post, which the student then takes down. The Student Government Association (SGA) discusses the blog post at its next meeting, attended by over 100 students, and by a vote of 17 to 3 passes a resolution condemning the post as transphobic and hateful. The student newspaper reports on the blog post and the SGA vote.

The story is picked up on social media, some calling this an instance of "cancel culture" and others condemning the student and her views, saying the university should do more to discipline her.

Meanwhile, a transgender student who shares a discussion section in a course with the blog post author asks the professor to move the author to another discussion section, saying it is not possible to feel safe in a room with a transphobic student.

Student capstone project sparks controversy.

For his senior capstone project, a theater arts major proposes directing Joshua Schmidt's *Adding Machine: A Musical*, an award-winning adaptation of the Elmer Rice 1923 play of the same name. The play and musical are critical of capitalism and racism, and portray characters who make racist comments. The student's proposal is approved by his advisor. The student recruits students to perform, and the musical goes into production; the performance is scheduled, with a panel to follow immediately after the performance with student actors, the student director, and a professor from the English department about the musical and its content. The musical and panel are advertised on campus with a warning: "This musical portrays racism and white supremacy."

A week before the performance, the dean of student affairs contacts the senior's advisor, asking about the content of the musical, as some students have reported discomfort with "a racist musical being allowed on campus." The advisor outlines the plan for a panel discussion after the play and invites the dean to attend a rehearsal later that day, which he does. At the end of the rehearsal, the dean states that he is concerned about the potential impact of the play on students from marginalized communities and will deliberate with others on the leadership team.

Overnight, the student newspaper publishes an article titled, "Racist Musical is Senior's Capstone." The article is widely shared on social media with calls for the performance to be canceled and criticism of the student's advisor for approving the capstone project.

Student athletes and assistant coach take a knee.

At a homecoming football game, the stadium stands are full, with alumni, students, faculty, staff, town residents, as well as several trustees. During the national anthem, several players lock arms and take a knee. They are joined by an assistant coach. As they do, some in the audience hiss and boo.

Even as the game is underway, the university starts to receive angry phone calls and email messages from alumni and others, including a message from a local major donor addressed to the school's president, calling the protesting players unpatriotic and demanding that the players be disciplined. On social media, images of the players and assistant coach start trending, with some posts decrying the protest and others praising it. The state senator whose district includes the university tweets, "Students and coach disrespect the flag while taxpayers foot the bill for their education and salary—disgraceful."

Social media posts indicate students are planning to gather and kneel in the main quad the next afternoon. A trustee in attendance at the game receives email messages from classmates, including one who has given a major gift and has the capacity to give another, asking whether the university will discipline the players and assistant coach.

First-year student hangs flag in dorm room to objections of suitemate.

During move-in, a matriculating student hangs an Israeli flag in her room while a suitemate looks on. The suitemate seeks out the resident advisor who is overseeing the move-in and complains that an Israeli flag is a symbol of Zionism and racism, and requests that the RA tell the student to remove the flag. The RA asks the student who has hung the flag about it. The student says it is a symbol of her Jewish faith, and that she plans to keep the flag displayed despite being aware that others are talking about it. The RA tells the student who complained that the suitemate may choose what to display in her own room.

The complaining student goes to the Office of Residential Life and demands that the student with the Israeli flag be moved to another suite. The Office of Residential Life handbook includes guidance that "residence halls are homes for students, and students should choose decorations that support an inclusive residential community for all." Meanwhile, the student who hung the flag has spoken to her parents, and her parents call to complain that their daughter is being made to feel unwelcome.

Faculty member reads racial epithet aloud in class.

A faculty member in a political science course assigned the Rev. Martin Luther King Jr.'s *Letter from Birmingham Jail*. During the class meeting, the professor reads parts of the letter aloud, including a section that includes a racial epithet. A student immediately objects, and other students join in supporting the student's objections. The professor defends himself, saying that the epithet was in Dr. King's writing, not his own word choice. The professor tries to resume the discussion, but several students say the conversation cannot continue until the professor apologizes, which he refuses to do, repeating that the epithet is not his own. When some students reply that the discussion cannot continue without an apology, the professor resolves the situation by ending the class meeting 15 minutes early. The next scheduled class meeting is two days hence.

Later that day, several students from the class, including the student who made the initial objection, visit the dean's office. They demand that if the professor does not apologize, he must be replaced for the remainder of the semester.

Meanwhile, students start sharing social media posts about the incident, and the Office of University Communications receives a call from a local television station, asking for comment.

Faculty member declines to write a letter of recommendation.

A faculty member is approached by a student at the end of a class meeting to ask if the professor would write a letter of recommendation for a summer internship. The student has been an active participant in class discussions and has performed well on assignments and tests. The professor readily agrees and asks the student to send information about how to submit the letter.

When the professor receives an email message from the student with the information, the professor sees that the student is applying for an internship with a pro-life organization. The professor responds that she would gladly write a letter of recommendation for an internship with another organization, but she will not support an application for an internship at an "anti-woman organization."

The student forwards the professor's email message to the department chair, alleging that she is being discriminated against. When the department chair asks the professor for her side of the story, the professor responds that her academic freedom allows her not to write a letter of recommendation to an organization she deeply opposes.

Meanwhile, the student's father contacts the dean of students, saying that their daughter is being discriminated against because of the family's Christian faith.

Alternative scenario: The student is applying for an internship at Planned Parenthood and the faculty member, after initially agreeing to write the letter, says that she is pro-life and declines to write the letter of recommendation on religious and academic freedom grounds.

Speaker invitation leads to controversy.

A faculty member in the philosophy department invites a bioethicist to address the students in her course, "Contemporary Moral Issues," one of several invited speakers over the term. The bioethicist has published articles arguing that it is ethical for a woman to abort a fetus diagnosed with a birth defect and to practice infanticide on infants with birth defects.

Students from Disability Awareness Advocates (DAA), a registered student organization, visit the Office of Student Life and insist the invitation to the bioethicist must be rescinded, saying it creates a hostile environment for disabled students, potentially including students in the class. The students say that if the invitation is not revoked, they may need to take further steps, without being specific about what those may be. A member of DAA publishes an op-ed in the student newspaper, writing, "It shouldn't be acceptable to invite to campus someone who would have exterminated me."

The professor says that she understands that the bioethicist is controversial, but it is up to her to set the syllabus and invite speakers. She notes that the bioethicist has published his views in peer-reviewed academic journals.

Faculty social media post.

An untenured but full-time faculty member, who is assistant director of the university's honors program, posted on her personal Twitter account not affiliated with the university—the following: "My campus is open and classes being held on #Juneteenth but closed on #July4. Celebrating #WhitePrivilege and no regard for Black faculty/students/staff."

The tweet leads to many retweets and replies, many agreeing with the professor and others calling her unpatriotic. The story is picked up by the local news, and the higher education press contacts the university for comment. A major donor writes an email message to the provost: "A professor who disrespects the Founders should not be on the staff of the school's honors program." A Change.org petition calling on the university to make Juneteenth a school holiday quickly garners hundreds of signatures from students as well as faculty.

Alternative scenario: The professor's tweet does not mention the university, but states: "I will celebrate #Juneteenth but not #July4. Juneteenth = Freedom /July4 = WhitePrivilege," but otherwise the events unfold as described.

Faculty public commentary.

A faculty member publishes an article in a general audience magazine about childhood outcomes, including high school diploma attainment, school suspensions, juvenile arrests, and teenage pregnancies. In the findings section, the author writes: "Single-parent households are correlated with adverse childhood outcomes. Therefore, public policy should aim to encourage household formation prior to pregnancy."

On Twitter, scholars from other institutions criticize the article for promoting a traditional family structure, alleging that this promotes bias against single-parent households, and some call for the professor's censure by his professional association. Students hear of the controversy through social media and demand that the faculty member not be allowed to teach classes on this topic.

Faculty research.

A faculty member publishes an article in a peer-reviewed journal, arguing that data suggests race-conscious admissions harm students by placing them in academic settings where they do not have the background to succeed. The article concludes: "Universities' admissions policies must be neutral to race and ethnicity and evaluate candidates on their individual merits."

Students read the article and lead a social media campaign criticizing the professor and the university. They argue that the faculty member is biased against minoritized students and cannot be trusted to assess them fairly. They demand that the faculty member be removed from the graduate admissions committee and that students not be required to take classes with the faculty member. However, the faculty member is a regular instructor for one of the required classes for the major.

Endnotes

- 1 1915 Declaration of Principles on Academic Freedom and Academic Tenure, American Association of University Professors. Available at: https://www.aaup.org/NR/ rdonlyres/A6520A9D-0A9A-47B3-B550-C006B5B224E7/0/1915Declaration.pdf; American Association of University Professors and Association of American Colleges, 1940 Statement of Principles on Academic Freedom and Tenure with 1970 Interpretive Comments. Available at: https://www.aaup.org/file/1940%20Statement.pdf. Report on the University's Role in Political and Social Action, University of Chicago, 1967. Available at: <u>https://provost.uchicago.edu/sites/default/files/documents/reports/KalvenRprt_0</u>. pdf; Report of the Committee on Freedom of Expression at Yale, Yale College, 1974. Available at: https://yalecollege.yale.edu/get-know-yale-college/office-dean/reports/reportcommittee-freedom-expression-yale. For background on the developments in higher education and of the 1915 and 1940 AAUP statements, see C. Goldin and L.F. Katz, "The Shaping of Higher Education: The Formative Years in the United States, 1890 to 1940," Journal of Economic Perspectives, 13(1): 37-62, 1999. Available at: https://scholar.harvard. edu/goldin/files/the_shaping_of_higher_education_the_formative_years_in_the_ united_states_1890-1940.pdf; F. Rudolph, with introductory essay and supplemental biography by J.R. Thelin, The American College and University: A History, 2nd ed. (Athens: University of Georgia Press, 1962, 1990), 410-16; W.P. Metzger, "The 1940 Statement of Principles on Academic Freedom and Tenure," Law and Contemporary Problems, 53(3): 3-77, 1990. Available at: https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent. cgi?article=4052&context=lcp; and H.J. Tiede, University Reform: The Founding of the American Association of University Professors (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2015).
- 2 B. Bishop, *The Big Sort: Why the Clustering of Like-Minded America is Tearing Us Apart* (Boston: Mariner Books, 2009), ch. 1, "The Age of Political Segregation," 19-40 and ch. 2, "The Politics of Migration," 41-57; P. Taylor, "The Demographic Trends Shaping American Politics in 2016 and Beyond," Pew Research Center, January 27, 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/01/27/the-demographic-trends-shaping-american-politics-in-2016-and-beyond/</u>; D. Cox, J. Navarro-Rivera, and R.P. Jones, *Race, Religion, and Political Affiliation of Americans' Core Social Networks*, Public Religion Research Institute, August 8, 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.prri.org/research/poll-race-religion-politics-american-social-networks/.</u>
- J.M. Twenge, iGen: Why Today's Super-Connected Kids Are Growing Up Less Rebellious, More Tolerant, Less Happy—And Completely Unprepared for Adulthood (New York: Atria, 2017), ch. 6, "Insulated but not Intrinsic: More Safety and Less Community," 143-177.
- 4 A. Harris, "Walter Kimbrough's Higher Calling," *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, October 22, 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.chronicle.com/article/</u> walter-kimbroughs-higher-calling/?utm_source=Iterable&utm_ medium=email&utm_campaign=campaign_2702399_nl_Daily-Briefing_ date_20210810&cid=db&source=&sourceId=.
- 5 Gallup, Inc., The First Amendment on Campus 2020 Report: College Students' Views of Free Expression, 2020, 41. Available at: <u>https://knightfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/First-Amendment-on-Campus-2020.pdf</u>. The same study noted students' perceptions of discussions on social media has worsened over time: In 2016, 41% perceived these discussions as "usually civil," but this declined to 37% in 2017 and

29% in 2019. See 42. In another survey, 64% said political discussions are more likely to occur online, while 35% said they mostly occur face-to-face on campus or in other public settings; see College Pulse, *Free Expression on College Campuses*, 2019, 12. Available at: https://kf-site-production.s3.amazonaws.com/media_elements/files/000/000/351/ original/Knight-CP-Report-FINAL.pdf.

- 6 A survey at the University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill found, with regard to "classes for which students say that politics came up at some point during the semester," that 43% of self-identified conservatives, 25% of self-identified moderates, and 10% of selfidentified liberals were concerned to some degree that their classroom comments would be shared on social media, see J. Larson, M. McNeilly, and T.J. Ryan, *Free Expression and Constructive Dialogue at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill*, University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, 2020, 26. Available at: <u>https://fecdsurveyreport.web.unc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/22160/2020/02/UNC-Free-Expression-Report.pdf</u>.
- J.M. Twenge, B.H. Spitzberg, and W.K. Campbell, "Less In-Person Social Interaction with Peers Among U.S. Adolescents in the 21st Century and Links to Loneliness," *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 36(6): 1892-1913, 2019. Available at: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0265407519836170</u>. See also J.M. Twenge, J. Haidt, A.B. Blake, C. McAllister, H. Lemon, and A. Le Roy, "Worldwide Increases in Adolescent Loneliness," *Journal of Adolescence*, 2021. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2021.06.006</u>.
- D.J. Ahler and G. Sood, "The Parties in Our Heads: Misperceptions About Party Composition and Their Consequences," *The Journal of Politics*, 80(3): 964-981, 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/697253</u>; L. Boxell, M. Gentzkow, and J.M. Shapiro, *Cross-Country Trends in Affective Polarization*, National Bureau of Economic Research, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.nber.org/system/files/ working_papers/w26669/w26669.pdf</u>. A recent survey found that 62% of Americans report being fearful of the consequences of expressing their political views, and 32% fear that their political views, if known, could have career consequences; see E. Ekins, "Poll: 62% of Americans Say They Have Political Views They're Afraid to Share," Cato Institute, July 22, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.cato.org/survey-reports/poll-62-americans-saythey-have-political-views-theyre-afraid-share#</u>.
- 9 Larson et al., Free Expression, 31-33.
- 10 D. Yudkin, S. Hawkins, and T. Dixon, *The Perception Gap: How False Impressions Are Pulling Americans Apart*, Hidden Tribes Project, 2019, 36-40. Available at: <u>https://perceptiongap.us/</u>.
- 11 P.E. Moskowitz, "Everything You Think You Know About 'Free Speech' Is a Lie," The Nation, August 20, 2019. Available at: https://www.thenation.com/article/archive/ portland-speech-milo-antifa-koch/; L.F. Barrett, "When Is Speech Violence?" New York Times, July 14, 2017. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/14/opinion/sunday/ when-is-speech-violence.html?_r=0. See also L.M. Seidman, "Can Free Speech Be Progressive?" Columbia Law Review, 118(7), 2018. Available at https://columbialawreview. org/content/can-free-speech-be-progressive/. See also U. Baer, What Snowflakes Get Right: Free Speech, Truth, and Equality on Campus (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2019).
- 12 Gallup, Inc., The First Amendment on Campus, 2020, 1, 16-7.
- 13 For further discussion of how commitments to free expression and diversity, equity, and inclusion are compatible see K.E. Whittington, "Free Speech and the Diverse University,"

Fordham Law Review, *87*(6): 2453-2477, 2019. Available at: <u>https://ir.lawnet.fordham.</u> <u>edu/flr/vol87/iss6/7/;</u> N. Thomas, "Educating for Democracy in Undemocratic Contexts: Avoiding the Zero-Sum Game of Campus Free Speech Versus Inclusion," *eJournal of Public Affairs*, *7*(1): 81-107, 2018. Available at: <u>http://www.ejournalofpublicaffairs.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/04/EJOPA_7.1_199-Nancy-Thomas.pdf.</u>

- 14 Lori S. White, address on occasion of inauguration as president of DePauw University, October 1, 2021.
- 15 N. Gross and S. Simmons, "The Social and Political Views of American College and University Professors," in Professors and their Politics, eds., N. Gross and S. Simmons (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2014), 19-49; S. Jaschik, "Professors and Politics: What the Research Says," Inside Higher Ed, February 27, 2017. Available at: https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2017/02/27/research-confirms-professorslean-left-questions-assumptions-about-what-means; S. Abrams, "Professors Moved Left Since 1990s, Rest of Country Did Not," Heterodox Academy, January 9, 2016. Available at: <u>https://heterodoxacademy.org/blog/professors-moved-left-but-country-did-not/;</u> M. Woessner and R. Maranto, "Campus Conservatives Aren't Under Siege-But There's More to the Story," *Newsweek*, August 4, 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/</u> think/opinion/right-says-campus-conservatives-are-under-siege-left-dismissive-bothncna1042051. Student surveys find that faculty welcome views from across the political spectrum in class, but that conservative students are more likely than others to express concerns about the campus climate for free expression, and that students perceive conservatives as a campus minority and less welcome than others to express their views. See Gallup, Inc., The First Amendment on Campus, 2, 36-37; Larson et al., Free Expression, 1, 18-23, 28-30, 33-7; G. Wright, S. Hecht, M. Shain, L. Sax, and S. Howland, Politics on the Quad: Students Report on Division and Disagreement at Five US Universities, Brandeis Steinhardt Social Research Institute, 2019, 31-32. Available at: https://bir.brandeis.edu/ bitstream/handle/10192/37095/politics_quad111919.pdf.
- 16 L. Saad, "U.S. Conservatism Down Since Start of 2020," Gallup, Inc., July 27, 2020. Available at: <u>https://news.gallup.com/poll/316094/conservatism-down-start-2020.aspx</u>.
- 17 Gallup, Inc., The First Amendment on Campus, 33.
- U. Peters, N. Honeycutt, A. De Block, and L. Jussim, "Ideological Diversity, Hostility, and Discrimination in Philosophy," *Philosophical Psychology*, 33(4): 511-48, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09515089.2020.17432</u>
 57; P. Norris, "Cancel Culture: Myth or Reality?" *Political Studies* (2021). Available at: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/00323217211037023</u>; E. Kaufmann, *Academic Freedom in Crisis: Punishment, Political Discrimination, and Self-Censorship,* Center for the Study of Partisanship and Ideology, 2021. Available at: <u>https://cspicenter.org/reports/academicfreedom/.</u>
- 19 Gallup, Inc., *The First Amendment on Campus*, 35. See also College Pulse, *Free Expression*, 12. This survey found 68% of college students thought "their campus climate precludes students from expressing their true opinions because their classmates might find them offensive." See also G. Wright et al., *Politics on the Quad*, 31-32. The *Politics on the Quad* report includes surveys from five major universities, both public and private, that showed considerable variation among campuses in students' assessment of how freely unpopular opinions may be expressed—suggesting that each institution should assess its own campus culture. At three of the five schools, large majorities of self-identified liberals, moderates, and conservatives disagreed with the statement that "unpopular opinions

can be expressed freely on campus"; at one school, a majority of conservatives disagreed, while nearly half of moderates and liberals disagreed. Only at one school did a majority of students of all three above-mentioned political orientations agree that "unpopular opinions may be expressed freely," but even at that school, significant minorities disagreed. Another study based on surveys of students at 26 institutions found 17% were dissatisfied to some degree with the atmosphere for political differences on their campus, while 32% were neutral; see N.M. Cesar-Davis, *Research Brief, 2018 Diverse Learning Environments*, Higher Education Research Institute at UCLA, 2019. Available at https://www.heri.ucla.edu/briefs/DLE/DLE-2018-Brief.pdf; see also infographic, which shows only about three-fifths of students were satisfied with the atmosphere for discussion of religious differences and sexual orientation. *Campus Conversations*, Higher Education Research Institute, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.heri.ucla.edu/infographics/DLE-2018-Infographic.pdf.

- 20 Larson et al., Free Expression, 23-4.
- 21 On pressures on faculty to self-censor, see R. Boyers, *The Tyranny of Virtue: Identity, The Academy, and the Hunt for Political Heresies* (New York: Scribner, 2019), ch. 2 "The Academy as a Total Cultural Environment," 21-34; Kaufmann, *Academic Freedom*; J.A. Shields and J.M. Dunn Sr., *Passing on the Right: Conservative Professors in the Progressive University* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2016).
- 22 See H. Heclo, On *Thinking Institutionally* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2011), esp. ch. 4, "Being Institutionally Minded," 81-128, for a discussion of cultivating virtues and values in institutions.
- 23 "Sharp Viewpoint Series: Engaging In Dialogue to Foster Change," University of Richmond, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.richmond. edu/sharp/; "Spider Talks with Ronald A. Crutcher," University of Richmond, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/ playlist?list=PLL1AktCDmRQisJ9YnIJoUQXUvHOpjyzjY; W.M. Kimbrough, "Brain Food Turns 5," Medium, April 18, 2018. Available at: https://hiphopprez.medium. com/brain-food-turns-5-11f8d9a74364; "2020-2021 Conversation Series," Baylor University, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.baylor.edu/ president/index.php?id=970012; "Books & Coffee Lecture Series," Concordia College-New York, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/ playlist?list=PLFzh316lkINofZMUYUm08bY3C54kVxFJH; "Ubben Lecture Series," DePauw University, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.depauw. edu/arts-and-culture/speakers/ubben-lecture-series/.
- 24 An example of a college that has made this explicit is Claremont McKenna College. Its statement on "Diversity and the Mission of Claremont McKenna College," drawing on its 2002 Strategic Plan, notes, "The College should recruit, select, and promote faculty on the basis of their individual achievements, their promise as teachers and scholars, and their contributions to the mission of the College. It should maintain its historic practice of hiring faculty members who represent a broad spectrum of political and academic philosophies." See "Diversity and the Mission of Claremont McKenna College," Claremont McKenna College, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.cmc.edu/student-imperative/diversity-and-inclusion/diversity-and-the-mission-of-claremont-mckenna-college.
- 25 S. Svrluga, "U-Md President Jumps Right into Angry Twitter Debate Over a Racist Email," *Washington Post*, March 13, 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.</u> <u>com/news/grade-point/wp/2015/03/13/a-racist-e-mail-lights-up-social-media-u-md-</u>

president-jumps-into-debate/. J. New, "Free Speech or Inciting Violence?," *Inside Higher Ed*, March 16, 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/03/16/u-maryland-wrestles-how-punish-fraternity-member-who-sent-racist-sexist-e-mail</u>. S. Svrluga and N. Anderson, "Many at U-Md. Upset After its President Says Slur-Filled E-mail Didn't Violate School Policy," *Washington Post*, April 2, 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/grade-point/wp/2015/04/02/many-at-u-md-upset-after-its-president-says-slur-filled-e-mail-didnt-violate-school-policy/</u>.

- 26 For one example of a comprehensive major events policy, see University of California, Berkeley, "Major Events Hosted by Non-Departmental Users," January 9, 2018. Available at: https://campuspol.berkeley.edu/policies/nondeptusers.pdf. For additional sample policies and guideline handouts, see "Resource Materials: Protest & Disruption Guidelines," University of California National Center for Free Speech and Civic Engagement, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://freespeechcenter. universityofcalifornia.edu/programs-and-resources/resource-materials-protestdisruption-guidelines/.
- 27 For a useful overview guide to managing controversial speakers in light of First Amendment obligations, see A.Q. Morse, The First Amendment and the Inclusive Campus: Effective Strategies for Leaders in Student Affairs, National Association of Student Personnel Administrators, 2018. Available at: https://www.naspa.org/files/dmfile/NASPA_Policy_ and_Practice_Issue_3_Free_Speech_DOWNLOAD.pdf. For a case study analysis of how Auburn University leaders managed the 2017 campus speech by Richard Spencer, see T. Benson Clayton and J. Huff, "Resolving Conflict on Campus: A Case Study on Free Speech and Controversial Speakers," Journal of Dispute Resolution, 2(5): 7-17, 2018. Available at: https://scholarship.law.missouri.edu/jdr/vol2018/iss2/5. For a suggested way to announce that a speaker's views are inconsistent with the equality required by academic discourse, see S.F. Hayward, "An Alternative Standard for Dealing with Extremist Speakers," Bipartisan Policy Center, March 19, 2020. Available at: https:// bipartisanpolicy.org/blog/an-alternative-standard-for-dealing-with-extremist-speakers/. For a suggested approach to events with controversial speakers, see UCLA Office of Administrative Vice Chancellor and Office of the Vice Chancellor for Equity, Diversity and Inclusion, "Practices for University Unit-sponsored Events that Trigger Protests, Version 2.1," November 19, 2019. Available at: https://ucla.app.box.com/v/EventProtests. See also H.L. Chambers, Jr., "Curating Campus Speakers," University of Richmond Law Review Online, 53(3): 3-17, 2019. Available at: https://lawreview.richmond.edu/ files/2019/07/Chambers-534-4.pdf.
- 28 R.A. Crutcher, "Leadership in Crossing Divides," *Inside Higher Ed*, February 19, 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2021/02/19/college-president-shares-lessons-learned-navigating-divides-race-class-and-politics</u>; M. Moran, "Crutcher, Free Speech Project Director Discuss UR's Recommended Free Speech Statement," *The Collegian*, November 9, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.thecollegianur.com/article/2020/11/crutcher-free-speech-project-director-discuss-urs-recommended-freedom-of-expression-statement</u>; L. Etheredge, "Law School Speaker Gives Controversial Talk on Transgender Issues, Incites Protest," *The Collegian*, September 12, 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.thecollegianur.com/article/2018/09/ryan-anderson-delivers-controversial-talk-on-transgender-issues</u>.
- 29 For examples of campus climate surveys, see "Undergraduate Student Social Climate Survey," University of Colorado Boulder, 2014 (this included a follow-up focus group with African American students). Available at: <u>https://www.colorado.edu/oda/surveys/</u>

oda-sponsored-surveys/undergraduate-surveys/undergraduate-student-social-climatesurvey; Larson et al., *Free Expression*; "Question Wording" and "Focus Group Protocol," 52-63; for a discussion of survey questions on free expression culture, see S. Stevens, P. Quirk, L. Jussim, and J. Haidt, *The Campus Expression Survey*, Heterodox Academy, 2017, updated 2021. Available at: <u>https://heterodoxacademy.org/library/campus-expressionsurvey-manual/</u>.

- 30 This position is outlined in the University of Chicago's 1967 Report on the University's Role in Social and Political Action, which asserts that there should be "a heavy presumption against the university taking collective action or expressing opinions on the political and social issues of the day, or modifying its corporate activities to foster social or political values, however compelling or appealing they may be." Although the University of Chicago upholds institutional neutrality, it has made institutional statements on political matters that directly affect its operations. For example, its president and provost issued a public letter on the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) program and impact on University of Chicago student and scholarly community, and its president issued a message in advance of the 2019 Executive Order on Improving Free Inquiry, Transparency, and Accountability at Colleges and Universities about the threat of the Executive Order chilling expression. R.J. Zimmer and D. Diermeier, "Letter to President Trump regarding DACA," September 2, 2017. Available at: https://news. uchicago.edu/story/letter-president-trump-regarding-daca. R. J. Zimmer, "President Zimmer's Message on Free Expression and Federal Action," March 4, 2019. Available at: https://news.uchicago.edu/story/president-zimmers-message-free-expression-andfederal-action.
- 31 For example, long-serving University of Notre Dame president Fr. Hesburgh and HBCU presidents assumed leadership roles in the Civil Rights Movement, "Rev. Theodore M. Hesburgh, C.S.C. 1917-2015," University of Notre Dame, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://hesburgh.nd.edu/;</u> M. Gasman, "HBCU Presidents Stood Up for Civil Rights," *Diverse: Issues in Higher Education*, January 13, 2013. Available at: <u>https://diverseeducation.com/article/50641/</u>.
- 32 S. Marken, "A Crisis in Confidence in Higher Ed," Gallup, Inc., April 12, 2019. Available at: <u>https://news.gallup.com/opinion/gallup/248492/crisis-confidence-higher.</u> aspx; K. Parker, "The Growing Partisan Divide in Views of Higher Education," Pew Research Center, August 19, 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/socialtrends/2019/08/19/the-growing-partisan-divide-in-views-of-higher-education-2/</u>.
- 33 R. Seltzer, "Why Host David Duke?," *Inside Higher Ed*, November 3, 2016. Available at: https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2016/11/03/dillard-university-stands-decisionhost-debate-even-when-david-duke-candidate.
- 34 Larson et al., *Free Expression*, 1, see also 18-20. K. Parker, "The Growing Partisan Divide," reports that, among those who think "higher education is headed in the wrong direction," 79% of Republicans and Republican-leaners and 17% of Democrats and Democratic-leaners believe "professors are bringing their political and social views into the classroom."
- 35 Foundation for Individual Rights in Education, Scholars Under Fire: The Targeting of Scholars for Ideological Reasons from 2015 to Present, 2021. Available at: https://www. thefire.org/research/publications/miscellaneous-publications/scholars-under-fire/; C. Schneider, "A Year of Discontent on Campus," The Dispatch, February 6, 2020, found that faculty are frequent objects of bias complaints. Available at: https://thedispatch. com/p/a-year-of-discontent-on-campus.

- 36 Issues of students making recordings to embarrass faculty and fellow students may be even more acute as more instruction occurs online during, and likely continuing after, the COVID-19 pandemic. See E. Pettit, "A Side Effect of Remote Teaching During Covid-19? Videos That Can Be Weaponized," *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, March 24, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.chronicle.com/article/a-side-effect-of-remote-teachingduring-covid-19-videos-that-can-be-weaponized//.</u>
- 37 D. Mashek, "Syllabus Language to Support Viewpoint Diversity," Heterodox Academy, January 9, 2018. Available at: https://heterodoxacademy.org/blog/teaching-heterodoxysyllabus-language/; PEN America, "Tips for Nurturing a Climate of Free Expression and Inclusion," September 25, 2019. Available at: https://campusfreespeechguide.pen.org/ resource/tips-for-nurturing-a-climate-of-free-expression-and-inclusion/. Harvard Law School has a policy against students attributing class comments on social media, "HLS Community Principle on Non-Attribution," n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://hls.harvard.edu/dept/registrar/policies-and-forms/hls-community-principle-onnon-attribution.
- 38 See for example, K. Landis, ed., "Establishing Discussion Rules," in Start Talking: A Handbook for Engaging Difficult Dialogues in Higher Education (Anchorage: University of Alaska Anchorage and Alaska Pacific University, 2008), 12-17. Available at: <u>https:// www.uaa.alaska.edu/academics/institutional-effectiveness/departments/center-foradvancing-faculty-excellence/difficult-dialogues/ documents/Start_Talking.pdf; see also Institute for Democracy and Higher Education, Readiness for Discussing Democracy in Supercharged Political Times, November 2019. Available at: <u>https://tufts.app.box.com/v/</u> idhe-discussing-democracy.</u>
- 39 Modules specifically on free expression themes may be added to courses not only for firstyear students but for upper-class students. See P. Bonilla, "Faculty Network Interview: Daniel Cullen, Rhodes College," Foundation for Individual Rights in Education, December 18, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.thefire.org/faculty-network-interviewdaniel-cullen-rhodes-college/</u>.
- 40 For example, a "University Blacklist" course team-taught at Claremont McKenna College by professor Jon Shields and Pitzer College professor Phil Zuckerman, in which they assigned controversial books by liberal and conservative authors. See "An Open Mind," *Claremont McKenna College Magazine*, Spring 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.cmc.edu/</u> <u>magazine/spring-2019/open-mind</u>.
- R.A. Crutcher interview with D. Lederman, "Race, Leadership, and Engaging with Contrary Viewpoints," *The Key with Inside Higher Ed*, ep. 51, podcast, June 29, 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/audio/2021/06/29/ep-51-race-leadership-and-engaging-contrary-viewpoints</u>.
- 42 Students report being reluctant to discuss topics when they are in the position of the predominant group (for example, white students report being more reluctant to discuss race, and straight students more reluctant to discuss sexual orientation and gender). M. Stiksma, *Understanding the Campus Expression Climate: Fall 2020*, Heterodox Academy, 2021. Available at: <u>https://heterodoxacademy.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Campus-Expression-Survey-Report-2020.pdf</u>.
- 43 Kaufmann, *Academic Freedom*, 166, finds, "In both North America and Britain, younger academics are more willing to endorse cancelling controversial staff, even when political

discrimination and ideology are held constant. Looking ahead to the future of academic freedom, this may be viewed as a concerning development."

- 44 C. Flaherty, "Is Retraction the New Rebuttal?" *Inside Higher Ed*, September 19, 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2017/09/19/controversy-over-paper-favor-colonialism-sparks-calls-retraction</u>.
- 45 "Campus Speech Modules," First Amendment Watch at New York University, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://firstamendmentwatch.org/category/</u> <u>campus-speech-modules/</u>; "Orientation Modules," Free Speech Project at Georgetown University, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://freespeechproject.</u> <u>georgetown.edu/free-speech-modules/</u>.
- 46 For an example of a first-year common reading program, see Washington University in St. Louis, *Common Reading Program for the Class of 2023*, 2019. Available at: https://issuu.com/wufirstyearcenter/docs/fyct-6328_common_reading_program_20. See also University of Washington in St. Louis, "Dialogue Across Difference - Freedom of Expression Session, Fall 2019 | Washington University," video, September 13, 2019. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1C6ysYNxloA. For a handbook on events with guided discussion of free expression, inclusion, and related topics, see Institute for Democracy and Higher Education, *Free Speech & Inclusion on Campus: Guide for Discussion Leaders*, v. 2, March 2018. Available at: https://tufts.app.box.com/v/idhe-free-speech-inclusion.
- 47 "OpenMind," OpenMind, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: https://openmindplatform.org/. J. Haidt, R.V. Reeves, and D. Cicirelli, All Minus One: John Stuart Mill's Ideas on Free Speech Illustrated, 2nd ed., Heterodox Academy, 2021. Available at: <a href="https://https//https//https//https//https//h
- 48 For example, consider "Texas Tech University System Regulation 07.04," Texas Tech University System, October 4, 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.texastech.edu/offices/cfo/system-regulation-07.04-freedom-of-expression.pdf</u>. See also "Expressive Activities Student Affairs Website FAQ" and "Campus Inclusion Resource Team," Texas Tech University, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.depts.ttu.edu/dos/docs/ExpressiveActivitiesFAQs.pdf</u> and <u>https://www.depts.ttu.edu/rise/campusinclusionresourceteam.php</u>. The University of Missouri has a multipage website including policies, principles, and frequently asked questions. See "Free Expression at Mizzou," University of Missouri, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://freespeech.missouri.edu/.</u>
- 49 "Chicago Statement: University and Faculty Body Support," Foundation for Individual Rights in Education, n.d., accessed November 2, 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.thefire.org/chicago-statement-university-and-faculty-body-support/</u>.
- 50 University of Maryland Senate, Joint President/Senate Inclusion and Respect Task Force, Inclusion and Respect at the University of Maryland, 2018. Available at: <u>https://diversity.umd.edu/uploads/files/Presidential_Approval_Inclusion_Respect_17_18_03.pdf</u>; University of Maryland, "Statement on University Values" and "Statement of Free Speech Values," 2018. Available at: <u>https://policies.umd.edu/statement-university-values/</u> and <u>https://policies.umd.edu/statement-free-speech-values/</u>.

- 51 University of Richmond, "Statement on Free Expression," December 2020. Available at: https://president.richmond.edu/common/pdf/statement-on-free-expression.pdf.
- 52 University of Richmond, *Code of Organizational Ethics and Integrity*, February 16, 2012, updated September, 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.richmond.edu/compliance/pdfs/code-of-ethics.pdf</u>.

53 Ibid.



1225 Eye St NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DC 20005

bipartisanpolicy.org

202 - 204 - 2400

The Bipartisan Policy Center (BPC) is a Washington, D.C. based think tank that actively fosters bipartisanship by combining the best ideas from both parties to promote health, security, and opportunity for all Americans. Our policy solutions are the product of informed deliberations by former elected and appointed officials, business and labor leaders, and academics and advocates who represent both ends of the political spectrum.

BPC prioritizes one thing above all else: getting things done.

- 🍯 @BPC_Bipartisan
- facebook.com/BipartisanPolicyCenter
- instagram.com/BPC_Bipartisan

Policy Areas

Campus Free Expression

Economy

Education

Energy

Governance

Health

Immigration

Infrastructure



1225 Eye Street NW, Suite 1000 Washington, D.C. 20005

IDEAS. ACTION. RESULTS.